Journal of Holography Applications in Physics Volume 5, Issue 1, Winter 2025, 50–70 ©Available online at http://jhap.du.ac.ir DOI: 10.22128/jhap.2024.906.1100 Online ISSN: 2783–3518



Regular article

Analysing some QCD Observable at Low Energy Scale, Based on AdS/CFT Correspondence

Abolfazl Mirjalili¹ · Raziyeh Borjian²

- ¹ Physics Department, Yazd University, Yazd, Iran;
- Corresponding Author E-mail: a.mirjalili@yazd.ac.ir ² Physics Department, Yazd University, Yazd, Iran;

E-mail: rborjian@gmail.com

Received: November 14, 2024; Revised: December 26, 2024; Accepted: December 28, 2024

Abstract. In the AdS/CFT correspondence, the space-time metric can be modified by a dilaton background with a positive sign. Modifying the metric and action with the dilaton field in the non-Abelian sector of Quantum Field Theory, such as Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD), produces an analytical running coupling constant applicable in the non-perturbative domain of the theory. The computed running coupling constant aligns closely with experimental results at low energy scales. The Burkert-Ioffe model can additionally modify this $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2)$ to more closely align with experimental results at high energy levels. Consequently, utilizing the AdS/CFT correspondence, we analyze specific QCD observables including the Bjorken sum rule, electron-positron annihilation into hadrons, and hadronic tau decay at low energy scales, below the QCD cut-off parameter, and we compare the outcomes with experimental data that match them closely.

Keywords: AdS/CFT Correspondence; Non Perturbative QCD; Modifed Strong Coupling.

 $\label{eq:copyrights} \begin{array}{l} \textbf{COPYRIGHTS: } @2025, \ Journal of Holography Applications in Physics. Published by Damghan University. This article is an open-access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0). \end{array}$

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0



Contents

1	Introduction	52
2	Basic concepts in AdS/CFT correspondence	52
	2.1 AdS space	53
	2.2 Conformal theory	53
	2.3 Holography	54
	2.4 AdS/CFT correspondence	54
	2.5 Nonperturbative effective coupling in anti-de sitter space	56
3	Modified analytical form of the coupling constant	58
4	QCD observable in light-front holography	59
	4.1 Bjorken sum rule	59
	4.2 Electron-positron annihilation to hadrons, $R_{e^+e^-}$ ratio	62
	4.3 Hadronic tau decay	64
5	Conclusion	64

1 Introduction

In QCD, the gauge theory of the strong force, the concept of a running coupling $\alpha_s(Q^2)$ is usually restricted to large Q^2 and the magnitude of this quantity is well defined within perturbative QCD at high energy scales [1,2], but its magnitude grows to infinity at low energy scale. At large distances or low energies scale (IR domain), most of these theoretical results and experimental data predict that QCD coupling constant does not depend on the scale as it does at high momentum domain [3,4]. Hence in Quantum Chromo dynamics (QCD), defining an analytic function for coupling constant at a low energy scale is very essential. This function should be valid over the full space-like and time-like domains.

Recently many experiments have been done at low energies scale [5-15]. Theoretical analysis of these experiments is very important. Using QCD theory to analyze these data directly is not feasible due to the limitation imposed by the QCD cutoff parameter, Λ_{OCD} , on the range of energy scale that can be utilized. Although the numerical value of Λ_{OCD} is specified via the fitting of experimental data but it can not definitely approach very small values. In the other words, α_{OCD} at low energies scale does not have adequate behavior and is not analytical. As a result, it is unsuitable for use as an expansion coefficient in perturbative calculations and cannot be utilized to analyze experimental data at low energy scale. To resolve this difficulty some different solutions have been suggested, including the method based on the lattice QCD [16], technical solution to Dyson-Schwinger equations [17], AdS/CFT duality [18], principle of maximum conformability [19], Freezing technique [20] and etc. Since in AdS/CFT correspondence, there is a relation between the coupling constant of strings and the coupling constant of Yang-Mills theories, we can obtain an analytic behaviour for coupling constant in QCD considerations at low energy scales. In this paper, using AdS/CFT correspondence we study some QCD observables such as the Bjorken sum rule, the $R_{e^+e^-}(s)$ ratio for the annihilation of electron-positron to hadron at center of mass energy \sqrt{s} and finally hadronic tau decays which all show that the results obtained from AdS/CFT duality are in good agreement with the concerned experimental data.

The organization of this paper is as follows. In Sec. 2 a brief review of required explanations of AdS/CFT correspondence is given where more details as AdS space and conformal theory are discussed respectively in Subsecs. 2.1 and 2.2. One of the important results of this correspondence is the Holography principle is illustrated in Subsec. 2.3. We back to AdS/CFT correspondence in Subsec. 2.4 with the aim of achieving its application in nonabelian gauge theory. For this purpose we discuss in Subsec. 2.5 how the strong coupling constant is modified, considering the AdS/CFT correspondence. In Sec. 3 a further modification on the coupling constant is discussed in which we are able to use it in the whole range from low to high energy scales. Applications of the final version of the modified coupling constant to estimate some QCD observables like Bjorken sum rule, electron-positron annihilation, and Hadronic tau decay are rendered in Sec. 4. Finally we give our conclusion in Sec. 5.

2 Basic concepts in AdS/CFT correspondence

Utilizing the holography principle, Anti-de-Sitter (AdS)/Conformal Field Theory (CFT) correspondence establishes a conformity between different string theories and CFTs. Considering conformal field theories and their relation with Quantum Chromodynamic (QCD), the correspondence between QCD and string theories could be obtained. In this connection, we first argue in the following subsection the AdS space and then we briefly review CFT

theories. At the end, considering the holography principle we discuss about some aspects of AdS/CFT correspondence. One of the outstanding aspects of this correspondence provides us with the modified strong coupling constant which involves many phenomenological applications in QCD which is finally discussed in the following subsection.

2.1 AdS space

Here a brief review is given about Anti-de-Sitter (AdS) space time. Einstein in 1917 introduced his general relativity (GR) field equation. AdS space time is a solution of the Einstein equation in the vacuum and has maximum symmetry in 5 dimensions [21,22].

The Anti-de-Sitter space is defined to be quadratic. AdS space time and de-Sitter (dS) space-time are Euclidian spaces with negative and positive cosmological constants respectively. These are changed to the Minkowski space time, if the cosmological constant is zero [23]. General AdS metric is given by:

$$ds^{2} = -f(r) dt^{2} + f(r)^{-1} dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega^{2}.$$
(2.1)

This metric can be represented in various coordinates. Unlike dS space, AdS space is temporally circular and open in all spatial directions. Anti de-Siteer and de-Sitter space-time evolved in hyperboloid form.

On the other hand, one can say that Anti-de Sitter space is in fact a 4 dimensional manifold in 5 dimensional (5D) Minkowski space-time where the metric of such space time reads generally as

$$ls^{2} = dt^{2} + dx^{2} - dr^{2} - r^{2}d\Omega^{2}.$$
(2.2)

On one hand side, Anti-de Sitter metric in 4-dimensional spherical coordinates is as follows [18]:

$$ds^{2} = \left(1 + \frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}}\right)dt^{2} - \left(1 + \frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}}\right)^{-1}dr^{2} - r^{2}d\Omega^{2},$$
(2.3)

where $-R^2 = \frac{3}{\Lambda^2}$ in which Λ is the cosmological constant. On the other side, one can write AdS space as a hypersurface in a five-dimensional Peseudo-Minkowsky with constant curvature of $1/R^2$ [24]. Finally, the Anti-de Sitter metric in Poincare's coordinate system can be written in the light cone coordinates as follows [25],

$$ds^{2} = R^{2} \left((d\bar{x})^{2} + dz^{2} - dt^{2} \right) / z^{2}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where $d\bar{x}$ denotes to the non-transformed coordinates.

С

2.2 Conformal theory

In order to get the correspondence between AdS and CFT, we first need to deal with the conformal theories. Conformal symmetry is a basic element in considerations of string theory. The conformal algebra is usually taken into account in infinite-dimensional space-time and hence in four dimensions as a finite dimensional space-time, the conformal algebra is less powerful. In conformal theories, one can write in d dimension space-time, the metric tensor as it follows:

$$g(x)_{\mu\nu} \to g(x)_{\mu\nu} = \Omega(x) g(x)_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (2.5)

Generators of conformal theories are:

$$P_{\mu} = -i\partial_{\mu}, \ L_{\mu\vartheta} = i(x_{\mu}\partial_{\vartheta} - x_{\vartheta}\partial_{\mu}),$$

$$D = ix^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}, \ K_{\mu} = -i\left[x^{2}\partial_{\mu} - 2x_{\mu}x^{\vartheta}\partial_{\vartheta}\right].$$
(2.6)

For the special case of four-dimensional space time, the conformal group is easily constructed from four generators for translations, six generators of the Lorentz group, one generator for scale transformations and four generators for proper conformal transformations with totally of 15 generators [26].

Consequently for finite rather than infinitesimal transformations, the following transformations will be obtained from the above generators:

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
x^{\mu} & \rightarrow & x^{\mu'} = x^{\mu} + a^{\mu} \\
x^{\mu} & \rightarrow & x^{\mu'} = \Lambda^{\mu}_{\upsilon} x^{\upsilon} \\
x^{\mu} & \rightarrow & x^{\mu'} = \lambda x^{\mu} \\
x^{\mu} & \rightarrow & x^{\mu'} - \frac{x^{\mu} + b^{\mu} x^{2}}{1 + b \cdot x + b^{2} x^{2}}
\end{array}$$
(2.7)

The total number of all above transformations in *d*-space is $\frac{(d+1)(d+2)}{2}$ that is identical to the rank of SO(2,d) group in Minkowski space time. This conformal group in four-dimension can be represented such as: $SO(4,2) \sim SU(2,2)$ [27].

2.3 Holography

't Hooft showed that two-dimensional space is rich enough to describe all three-dimensional phenomena. Therefore, the world can be described as a Hologram [28]. After he introduced this idea, Maldesena proposed that large N limits of certain CFTs can be described in terms of supergravity (and string theory) in a dimension which is higher by one. Consequently, conformal theories in 4 dimensions can be lived on the AdS space with a compact manifold. Therefore in a corresponding d+1 dimensional space, a compact manifold appears as a sphere. After this suggestion by Maldesena, studies shifted to CFT and field theories which ended finally to an AdS/CFT correspondence. On this base super Yang-Mills theory with N=4 is equivalent to a special type of superstring theory on AdS with 5-dimension. As a result of this Holography, the space geometry of a black hole in its near-horizon is an AdS geometry. Therefore, people usually work on the Anti-de Siter space. Field theory on AdS with d+1 dimensions can be related to an M field theory with d dimension, represented by M_d [29].

After equipping to required information for AdS, conformal theories and Holography, we are at the stage to follow the duality of AdS and conformal theories.

2.4 AdS/CFT correspondence

The AdS/CFT correspondence provides a proper tool for studying the dynamics of strongly coupled quantum field theories. Here strong coupling of Gauge theories, which involve SU(N) symmetry group, is considered [30]. Gauge theory with N = 4 can be a kind of supersymmetry theory. The aim is to obtain a strongly coupling constant in Yang-Mills theories, using the AdS/CFT correspondence. This approach is based on a connection between the large N limit of supergravity theory with a superstring/M-theory. M-theory is constructed on a 10-dimensional space and supergravity is on the AdS space-time. The large N limit of a maximally N = 4 is defined on the AdS boundary which is put in a D dimensional space time. [29,31,32]. The application of this conjecture to QCD is not straightforward because QCD is neither supersymmetry nor conformal. Quantum chromodynamics (QCD) is a gauge theory in 4-dimensional space-time.

The idea of the existence of higher-dimensional space was first introduced by Kaluza and Klein in the 1920s which leads to a duality between electromagnetic theory and gravity [33].

Later on A. Witten presented a procedure to extend duality to QCD and other gauge theories [29]. Klein postulated that the extra dimension should be curled down to a length of around the Plank length in order that the curvature corresponds to the correct magnitude of electric charge [34]. This idea has been generalized in string theory. After then superstring/M-theory is defined on bigger space $S^5 \times (AdS)^5$ that is a ten-dimensional space performed by the direct product of two spaces. The conformal field theory (under the restriction of large N) living on the boundary submanifold of an Anti-de-Sitter space-time is equivalent to the bulk supergravity (or string) theory on the Anti-de-Sitter space-time. According to the string theory, under an appropriate unitary transformation, which involves the required duality, a large wrapping number of p-dimensional branes and a large momentum number can be interchanged. As a result, the relationship among these holographies may exist [35].

Since in the heterotic string, one set of vibrations exists in 26 dimensions and the superstring exists in 10 dimensions, 16 dimensions do not need to curl up like a ball [27]. Thus the metric of superstring theory can be written in 10 dimensions as follows:

$$ds_{10}^2 = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_0}}dt^2 + \sqrt{f_0}(dx_1^2 + \dots + dx_9^2) , \qquad (2.8)$$

where f_0 is a nine-dimensional harmonic function:

$$f_0 = 1 + g_s l_s^7 \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{Q_n}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}_n|^7}.$$
 (2.9)

Here Q_n represents the charge or the associated parameter of D-Particles (that is the constituent entities in string theory) at X_n and x_n represents the position of D-Particles. Also, x denotes a nine-dimensional spatial point.

One can simply get the dilaton ϕ (a field in string theory as the primary generator of the length scale) and the R-R one-form gauge field A (as a field associated with the charged currents carried by strings) which are given by [35]:

$$e^{-2\phi} = g_s^{-2} f_0^{-3/2}, \qquad A_t = 1 - \frac{1}{f_0}.$$
 (2.10)

Here the string coupling constant g_s satisfies $g_s = e^{\phi_{\infty}}$ where the parameter ϕ_{∞} denotes the string scale and denotes the value of the dilaton at infinite distance, which can serve as a key parameter in determining the string coupling constant [35].

The dilaton ϕ can also affect the AdS metric and as a result Eq. (2.1) can be modified by introducing a dilaton profile in the AdS action. Furthermore, Polchinski and Strassler show that AdS/CFT duality is correspondingly modified to incorporate a mass scale [36]. In the modified theory the conformal metric of Anti-de Sitter space is modified by introducing an additional warp factor $e^{\pm \kappa^2 z^2}$ [37]. Hence Eq. (2.1) can be rewritten as:

$$ds^{2} = R^{2} e^{\pm \kappa^{2} z^{2}} \left(\eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} - dz^{2} \right) / z^{2}.$$
(2.11)

where z is an extra dimension in the anti-de-Sitter space-time. Using the holographic principle we can see the result of strings moment in space-time with 10 dimensions appearing on the border of four-dimensional AdS space. In Eq. (2.11) R is the Anti-de Sitter radius which is related to the string coupling, number of colors, and string scale such as $R^2 \sim g_s N \alpha^2$ [30].

Considering the AdS/CFT correspondence, it is possible now to derive the strong coupling constant of a Yang-Mills theory which is applicable in nonperturbative region. The context of the next section is devoted to this subject.

2.5 Nonperturbative effective coupling in anti-de sitter space

The group of transformations, belongs to SO(4,2) symmetry group, and leaves the Anti-de Sitter metric invariant. This is due to the fact that under a dilatation of all coordinates, such as

$$x^{\mu} \to \lambda x^{\mu}, \qquad z \to \lambda z,$$
 (2.12)

the metric in Eq. (2.11) would be invariant. Here the variable z is a scaling variable in Minkowski space.

It should be noted that QCD approaches a conformal theory in both the far ultraviolet and deep infrared regions. When quantum corrections are included, the conformal behavior is preserved at very large Q because of asymptotic freedom and near $Q \rightarrow 0$ because the theory develops a fixed point. On the other hand, the renormalization group (RG) equations describe how the coupling constant evolves with energy scale. In AdS/CFT correspondence, these equations reveal that at very low energies, below the Landau pole, the running coupling constant behaves like a fixed point of the RG flow, effectively freezing to a constant value rather than diverging. This behavior is indicative of a quasi-conformal regime where QCD can be treated similarly to a conformal field theory at short distances.

The conformal invariance of Anti-de Sitter space should be broken in order to achieve a confining theory. There are two ways to break the invariance. The first way is "hard-wall". In this way, conformal invariance is broken at $z_0 \sim 1/\Lambda_{QCD}$ [36] where Λ_{QCD} is the QCD cutoff parameter. Since the scale invariant is $x^{\mu} \rightarrow x^{\mu'} = \lambda x^{\mu}$ at a finite value $z_0 \sim 1/\Lambda_{QCD}$, the "hard-wall" breaks conformal invariance [36]. It should be noted that different values of z correspond to different energy scales in QCD [38]. Equivalent to modification of the Anti-de Sitter metric in Eq. (2.11), a dilation profile is introduced in the AdS action.

The second way is "soft-wall". In this way, for asymptotical Anti-de Sitter, the geometries warp factor appears as $e^{\pm \kappa^2 z^2}$ and it vanishes at small z [37,39]. According to the assumption of Sonnenscheim in [40] the g_{00} array of the AdS metric is such as

$$\partial_z(g_{00})|_{z=z_0} = 0, \qquad g_{00}|_{z=z_0} \neq 0.$$
 (2.13)

The metric which is modified by the warp factor $e^{\pm \kappa^2 z^2}$ satisfies the above conditions with $z_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\kappa}}$ and is used to derive a confining potential between heavy quarks [37,39].

On the other hand, the gravitational potential energy for an object of mass m in general relativity is given by [41]

$$V = mc^2 \sqrt{g_{00}} = mc^2 R \frac{1}{z} e^{\pm \kappa^2 z^2} / 2 . \qquad (2.14)$$

Therefore the related action is obtained as it follows [38]:

$$S = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^5 x \sqrt{g} e^{\varphi(z)} \frac{1}{g_5^2} F^2.$$
(2.15)

Here F is a five-dimensional gauge field which propagating in Anti-de Sitter space, $\varphi(z) = \pm \kappa^2 z^2$ and perfector $e^{\varphi(z)} g_5^{-2}$ can be identified by $g_5^{-2}(z)$ as the effective coupling of the theory in the AdS action at the length scale z and finally $\sqrt{g} = (\frac{R}{z})^5$ [38].

To facilitate the computations, people usually utilize the Light-front (LF) approach [42]. In the LF holography, a correspondence is observed between the Hamiltonian formulations of QCD in 4-dimensional space-time quantized on the light front at a fixed light front time and the equations of motion in AdS space. In this connection the required action in 4

dimensions would be given by

$$S = \int d^4x dz \sqrt{g} e^{\varphi(z)} \mathcal{L}, \qquad (2.16)$$

where \mathcal{L} is the QCD lagrangian. We then have a direct relation between hadronic amplitude in Anti-de Sitter space, denoted by $\Phi(z)$, and a function which describes the structure of hadrons in LF, presented by $\phi(\zeta)$, where ζ is the LF invariant variable and is corresponding with coordinate z in AdS. By the spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking, it can be explained how flavor in AdS/CFT is living on the world volume of flavor branes. By matching the UV asymptotic of current-current two-point function between bulk and boundary theories, the gauge coupling g_5 is fixed [43].

Furthermore, the physical states in AdS space are introduced by normalizable modes

$$\Phi_P(x^{\mu}, z) = e^{-iP.x\Phi(z)}, \tag{2.17}$$

where $\Phi_P(x^{\mu}, z)$ is a normalizable string mode which is dual to LF hadronic state. On this base, one can write the single-variable light-front relativistic Schrödinger equation as follows [44]:

$$-\frac{d^2}{d\zeta^2} - \frac{1 - 4L^2}{4\zeta^2} + U(\zeta) = M^2 \phi(\zeta), \qquad (2.18)$$

where L is the relative orbital angular momentum and M is eigenvalue of the corresponding Eigen mode $\phi(\zeta)$. In above equation $U(\zeta)$ is effective potential in the LF equation of motion which is given by [41]:

$$U(\zeta) = \kappa^4 \zeta^2 + 2\kappa^2 (L + S - 1). \tag{2.19}$$

Modified metric is done by a positive-sign dilaton background which is related to a non perturbative coupling constant in AdS space where it is a function of $Q^2 = -q^2$ as the transferred momentum. This coupling constant shows behavior of asymptotic freedom at large Q^2 which has a little difference with respect to the reported experimental data. The limit of coupling constant tends to a fixed point as Q tends to 0. The coupling constant in AdS space can be written as $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2) \sim e^{-Q^2/\kappa^2}$. To achieve this behaviour one should note that light-front holography can map the AdS coupling constant $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2)$ into the Yang-Mills (YM) coupling constant $\alpha_{YM}(\zeta)$. Thus

$$\alpha_s^{AdS}(\zeta) = g_{YM}^2(\zeta)/4\pi \propto e^{-\kappa^2/\zeta^2},\tag{2.20}$$

where ζ as the invariant impact separation variable in $g_{YM}(\zeta)$ which appears in the LF Hamiltonian is identified with z in $g_5(z)$ so as: $g_5(z) \to g_{YM}(\zeta)$. Using the Bessel transformation, the coupling constant is converted to the momentum space and one obtains:

$$\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2) = \alpha_s^{AdS}(0)e^{-Q^2/4\kappa^2},$$
(2.21)

where $\alpha_s^{AdS}(0) = \pi$ [38]. The Gaussian form for the running coupling, follows from the requirement that the action remains conformal though a mass scale appears in the confining potential of the light-front Hamiltonian. Eq. (2.21) is valid only at the domain of Q^2 where QCD is a strongly coupled theory and the AdS/CFT correspondence can be applied. Furthermore, quantum effects are neglected in the light-front holographic approach Nonetheless, $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2)$ can be supplemented at large Q^2 by either parameterizing the well-known pQCD

effects at the origin of the large Q^2 dependence by matching Eq. (2.21) to the one in the conventional pQCD.

To further elucidate the significance of the modified running coupling constant derived from AdS/CFT correspondence, it is important to recall that the notion of a running coupling $\alpha_s(Q^2)$ in QCD is typically confined to the perturbative regime. Nonetheless, similar to QED, it is advantageous to designate the coupling as an analytic function applicable across both the complete spacelike and timelike domains. Indeed, examining the non-Abelian QCD coupling at low momentum transfer presents a challenging issue due to color confinement. Its conduct in the nonperturbative infrared (IR) region has been extensively investigated as it is a quantity of crucial significance. It has been demonstrated here that the light-front holographic mapping of effective classical gravity in AdS space, adjusted by a positive-sign dilaton background, can serve to identify a nonperturbative effective coupling $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2)$.

Although the modified strong coupling constant, resulting from AdS/CFT correspondence, indicates analytical behaviour at energy scales below the Λ_{QCD} but in order to match it properly to whole experimental data, including low and high energy scales, one needs to do more modifications on the coupling constant which is illustrated in next section.

3 Modified analytical form of the coupling constant

The preliminary form of the running coupling constant, resulting from AdS/CFT correspondence, is given by Eq. (2.21) where the normalization factor $\alpha^{AdS}(0) = \pi$ can be obtained from Lattice computations [16]. The value of $\kappa = 0.54$ GeV has been determined from the principal Regge trajectory of the vector meson [41]. Erlich and his collaborations have obtained the value of the five-dimensional coupling for a SU(2) flavor gauge theory. Their computed value is $\left(g_2^5\right)_{SU(2)} = 12\pi^2 \frac{R}{N_C}$, with $N_C = 3$ and R = 1 leads to $\left(\frac{g_2^5}{4\pi}\right)_{SU(2)} = \pi$

[45] that is corresponded to the normalized coupling $\alpha^{AdS}(0)$.

The coupling constant in Eq. (2.21) at $Q \ge 1$ GeV differs with respect to the reported experimental data. Therefore the coupling constant $\alpha^{AdS}(Q^2)$ requires to be modified. The smooth behavior of the holographic strong coupling constant allows for extrapolation of its form in the perturbative region and this fact also allows to extend the functional dependence of the coupling to large distances. At these distances or low energy scales, the role of the Landau pole is dominating. At the Landau pole, a divergence occurs in the coupling constant which indicates that the perturbative expansion used to describe the QCD breaks down. In this case, the theory may not be valid at any energy scale, as physical predictions become unreliable. While QCD has an infrared Landau pole, the non-perturbative behavior can be analyzed using AdS/CFT techniques.

Since perturbative confining effects do not vanish exponentially at large Q^2 , it is required to add in AdS coupling a fitted term denoted by g_{\pm} such as

$$g_{\pm}\left(Q^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + e^{\pm \frac{Q^{2} - Q_{0}^{2}}{\tau^{2}}}\right)},\tag{3.1}$$

with the values $Q_0^2 = 0.8 \text{GeV}^2$ and $\tau = 0.3 \text{ GeV}^2$. Regarding the above consideration, one would obtain [38]:

$$\alpha_{Modified}^{AdS}\left(Q^{2}\right) = \alpha^{AdS}\left(Q^{2}\right)g_{+}\left(Q^{2}\right) + \alpha^{fit}\left(Q^{2}\right)g_{-}\left(Q^{2}\right).$$
(3.2)

In the above equation one needs to employ a smeared step function to connect smoothly two contributions from different regions. This is due to the fact that the initiated coupling

constant does not indicate a smooth transition without using an analytical expression like g_{\pm} . In other words, one encounters with difficulty to do perturbative calculations near or below the transition region and consequently it is inevitable to use the $g_{\pm}(Q^2)$ function [38].

Deur et al. have presented a new extraction of the fitted coupling constant, α^{fit} , in Eq. (3.2) [46]. This coupling constant agrees with experimental data in the low and high Q^2 . This modified form is required to apply in AdS/CFT correspondence and later on in QCD calculations. In this connection, the available data have been used to do a fit for the modified part of the coupling constant to resemble the pQCD evolution equation for α_s . The new version of α_{fit} is such as

$$\alpha_{fit} = \frac{\gamma n\left(Q\right)}{\log\left(\frac{Q^2 + m_g^2(Q)}{\Lambda^2}\right)},\tag{3.3}$$

where n(Q) forces the modified coupling constant to be π when $Q^2 \to 0$ and an additional term, m_g^2 , causes this coupling not to be diverted when $Q^2 \to \Lambda^2$. In this equation $\gamma = 4/\beta_0 = 12/(33 - n_f)$ where n_f is the number of active quark flavor,

$$n(Q) = \pi \left(1 + \left[\frac{\gamma}{\log\left(m^2/\Lambda^2\right) \left(1 + Q/\Lambda\right)^{-\gamma}} + \left(b \ Q\right)^c \right]^{-1} \right)$$

and $m_g(Q) = 4(m/(1 + (a Q)^d))$ where [46]

$$\begin{split} \Lambda &= 0.349 \pm 0.009 \; GeV, \qquad a = 3.008 \pm 0.081 \; GeV^{-1}, \qquad b = 1.425 \pm 0.032 \; GeV^{-1}, \\ c &= 0.908 \pm 0.025, \qquad \qquad m = 1.204 \pm 0.018 GeV, \qquad d = 0.840 \pm 0.051. \end{split}$$

Now that we have access to the updated coupling constant derived from the AdS/CFT correspondence, we can use it for various phenomenological purposes outlined in the next section.

4 QCD observable in light-front holography

In this section, we study some QCD observables at low energy scales using AdS/CFT correspondence and then compare the theoretical results with the available experimental data.

4.1 Bjorken sum rule

In order to indicate the advantage of utilizing the modified coupling constant, based on AdS/CFT correspondence, we investigate some QCD observables which contain experimental data at low energy scale. The first one is the Bjorken sum rule (BSR) that is of particular importance and is relating to the spin dependence of quark densities to the axial charge. The study of nucleon spin structure is important in quantum chromodynamics. The concerned studies have been actively pursued over the past recent decades from the experimental point of view at CERN, SLAC, DESY and Jefferson laboratory [47–53]. They are well tested at high energy but at low energy, characterizing the domain of quark confinement, their examination is challenging [54]. BSR is important to understand the nucleon spin structure that is confirmed quantum chromodynamics (QCD) can describe well



Figure 1: Comparing the effective coupling from LF holographic mapping for $\kappa = 0.54 \ GeV$ with effective QCD couplings extracted from different observable and lattice results. This figure has been quoted from Ref. [38].

the strong force in polarized case. It is related to the first moment of polarized nucleon structure function, g_1 , which takes the form

$$\Gamma_1^{p(n)}(Q^2) \equiv \int_0^1 g_1^{p(n)}(x,Q^2) dx = \frac{C_1^{NS}(Q^2)}{12} \left[\frac{a_8}{3} \pm a_3\right] + \frac{C_1^S(Q^2)}{9} a_0(Q^2), \tag{4.1}$$

where \pm in the square brackets refer to proton and neutron respectively and $C_1^{NS,S}$ are the SU(3) nonsinglet/singlet coefficient functions that are known up to $O(a_s^3)$. The a_3 and a_8 terms denote the non-singlet combinations of the first moment of polarized quark densities which are related to the weak matrix elements that are measured in neutron and hyperon β decay [55]. The β decay is controlling by nucleon axial charge, presenting hereinafter by g_A [56,57]. Note that only a_0 as singlet axial current depends on Q^2 because a_3 and a_8 are matrix elements of conserved currents in the limit of massless quarks. Conservation of the related axial current operators is a physical statement independent of scale. The reason why this is not the case for a_0 is related to existence of the axial anomaly [58]. From Eq. (4.1) one would easily get

$$\Gamma_1^p(Q^2) - \Gamma_1^n(Q^2) = \frac{C_1^{NS}(Q^2)}{6}a_3, \tag{4.2}$$

where presented Γ_1^p and Γ_1^n refer the the Ellis- Jaffe sum rule and the combination appears in Eq. (4.2) is known as Bjorken sum rule.

On the other hand, going beyond the operator product expansion (OPE) at the leading twist, a new format of the Bjorken sum rule, related to polarized nucleon structure function is obtained as it follows [59]:

$$\Gamma_1^{p-n}(Q^2) \equiv \Gamma_1^p - \Gamma_1^n = \int_0^1 [g_1^p(x) - g_1^n(x)] dx = \frac{g_A}{6} C^{Bjp} + \sum_{i=2}^\infty \frac{\mu_{2i}^{p-n}(Q^2)}{Q^{2i-2}},$$
(4.3)

where [60]

$$C^{Bjp} = 1 - \alpha_s + (-4.583 + 0.3333n_f)a_s^2 + (-41.44 + 7.607n_f - 0.1775n_f^2)a_s^3 + (-479.4 + 123.4n_f - 7.697n_f^2 + 0.1037n_f^3)a_s^4,$$

$$(4.4)$$

and $|g_A| = 1.2670 \pm 0.0035$ [57]. Here n_f denotes to number of quark active flavour. At leading twist order two Eq. (4.2) and Eq. (4.3) are equivalent to each other. The sum term



Figure 2: Bjorken sum rule in conventional pQCD which are compared with the results from modified AdS/CFT and experimental dates.

in Eq. (4.3) refers to a higher twist effect. The term with D = 2 dimension, i.e., μ_4^{p-n}/Q^2 ,

has the following coefficient [56]:

$$\mu_4 = \frac{M_N^2}{9} (a_2^{p-n} + 4d_2^{p-n} + 4f_2^{p-n}(Q^2)).$$
(4.5)

In this equation, the nucleon mass is $M_N \approx 0.94$ GeV. The coefficient a_2^{p-n} represents the twist-2 target mass correction and d_2^{p-n} is related to the twist-3 matrix element. The f_2^{p-n} function is in fact a well-defined operator with a specific physical meaning. More details about these coefficients can be found in [56,61]. Computing result of underlying QCD is done here up to D = 2 dimension.

To indicate the advantage of amended coupling constant, based on the improvement which is done by AdS/CFT duality, we plot in Fig. 2 the result for the Bjorken sum rule using two approaches. First, we employ the improved coupling constant in AdS/CFT duality and as a second approach, we resort to conventional pQCD, using Eq. (4.3) while C^{Bjp} is given by Eq. (4.4). In the conventional QCD approach the utilized energy range is (0.24 GeV², 6 GeV²) while in another approach, based on AdS/CFT correspondence, the energy range can be started from zero that is below the QCD cutoff parameter which is chosen $\Lambda^2 = 0.12 \text{ GeV}^2$ ($\Lambda = 0.349 \text{ GeV}$). It should be noted that the result of the first approach is obtained while we employ the following relation:

$$\Gamma_1^{p-n}(Q^2) = \int_0^1 [g_1^p(x) - g_1^n(x)] dx = \frac{g_A}{6} (1 - \alpha_{Modified}^{AdS}(Q^2)) , \qquad (4.6)$$

which is involving a perturbative series up to the first order. Therefore it seems that the coupling constant in AdS/CFT duality plays a role as an effective coupling which is containing all the corrections of higher orders. This coupling incorporates confinement and agrees well with effective charge observables and lattice simulations. It also exhibits an infrared fixed point at small Q^2 and asymptotic freedom at large Q^2 . The equation indicated above represents an alternative version of Eq. (4.3), in which the contribution of higher twist effects has been ignored.

Examining Fig. 2 reveals that the outcome of the initial method, utilizing the AdS/CFT correlation, aligns well with the available data, whereas the calculated analytical outcome competently encompasses the data at low energy scale, below the QCD cutoff parameter.

As a second observable where its behaviour particularly at a low energy scale is noteworthy, we consider below the ratio of electron-positron annihilation to hadrons and muonantimuon.

4.2 Electron-positron annihilation to hadrons, $R_{e^+e^-}$ ratio

In this section, we consider another QCD observable where its behaviour at low energy infrared regime is important for us. We then follow to see whether AdS/CFT correspondence is working well or not. We focus on studying the $R_{e^+e^-}$ ratio for electron-positron annihilation to hadrons with respect to the same annihilation to muon-antimuon at the center of mass (c.m) energy \sqrt{s} . In the conventional pQCD, this ratio involves a part that can be written as a power series in terms of the renormalized QCD coupling $a_s(s) = \frac{\alpha_s(s)}{\pi}$. The ratio at c.m energy \sqrt{s} is given by:

$$R_{e^+e^-}(s) \equiv \frac{\sigma_{tot}(e^+e^- \to hadrons)}{\sigma(e^+e^- \to \mu^+\mu^-)} = 3\sum_f Q_f^2(1+R(s)).$$
(4.7)

Here Q_f is the electric charge of the different quark flavors and R(s) is perturbative corrections to the parton model result for the concerned ratio. The R(s) has the following perturbation series:

$$R(s) = a + \sum_{n>0} r_n a^{n+1} , \qquad (4.8)$$

where r_1 and r_2 have been computed in the \overline{MS} scheme with renormalization scale $\mu^2 = s$ [20,62,63]. Substituting the numerical results for r_1 and r_2 in above equation, one will arrive at [64]:

$$R(s) = 3\sum_{f} Q_{f}^{2} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} 1 + a_{s} + a_{s}^{2}(1.98571 - 0.115295n_{f} - 0.345886n_{\tilde{g}}) \\ + a_{s}^{3}(-6.63694 - 1.20013n_{f} - 0.00518n_{f}^{2} \\ -2.85053n_{\tilde{g}} - 0.03107n_{f}n_{\tilde{g}} - 0.04661n_{\tilde{g}}^{2}) \end{array} \right\} \\ - (\sum_{f} Q_{f})^{2} \alpha_{s}^{3} (1.2395).$$

$$(4.9)$$



Figure 3: $R_{e^+e^-}$ ratio, resulted from AdS/CFT correspondence and conventional pQCD which are compared with the available experimental data [65].

Here there is no light by light corrections which enter at $O(\alpha_s^3)$ since summing over u, d, and s quarks leads to $(\sum_f Q_f)^2 = 0$. In Fig. 3 we plot $R_{e^+e^-}$ ratio, employing two different approaches at three different energy ranges (0.45 GeV to 3.2 GeV), (3.2 GeV to 10 GeV) and finally (10 GeV to 25 GeV) where three, four and five quark flavours are activated respectively. The first approach is based on the conventional pQCD and the in the second approach we take into account the improved coupling constant, resulted from AdS/CFT

duality. As it is seen and expected the underlying pQCD does not have proper behaviour at low energy scale, below the QCD cutoff parameter, Λ_{QCD} . The result of the second approach indicates adequate behaviour at low energy scales toward a range below the QCD cutoff parameter while it is also able to cover properly the experimental data at this range which can be taken as the advantage of this approach.

Below, we discuss the third observable for which there are experimental data available at a low energy scale.

4.3 Hadronic tau decay

The τ particle is a member of the third lepton generation. Tau decays into different particles via the W propagation. The decay of this lepton has five equal contributions. Two of them are $\tau^- \to v_\tau e^- \bar{v}_e$ and $\tau^- \to v_\tau \mu^- \bar{v}_\mu$. Other three decay modes are typically presenting by $\tau^- \to v_\tau d_\theta \bar{u}$ where $d_\theta \equiv \cos \theta_C d + \sin \theta_C s$.

Ratio for τ decay to hadron with respect to the first channel is given by [66]:

$$R_{\tau} \equiv \frac{\Gamma(\tau^- \to \upsilon_{\tau} + hadrons)}{\Gamma(\tau^- \to \upsilon_{\tau} e^- \bar{\upsilon}_e)} .$$
(4.10)

Like to what we had for $R_{e^+e^-}$ (see Eq. (4.9)) the perturbative part for ratio of τ decay has the following expansion:

$$\tilde{R}_{\tau} = a + r_1 a^2 + r_2 a^3 + \dots + r_k a^{k+1} + \dots$$
(4.11)

Considering the above expansion in the \overline{MS} scheme (with $\mu^2 = s$) the completed ratio form of lepton decay width is as follows [67]:

$$R_{\tau} = N(|V_{ud}|^2 + |V_{us}|^2)S_{EW}[1 + \frac{5}{12}\frac{\alpha(m_{\tau}^2)}{\pi} + \tilde{R}_{\tau}], \qquad (4.12)$$

where $|V_{ud}|^2 + |V_{us}|^2 \approx 1$ and $m_{\tau}^2 = s$. Here $\alpha(m_{\tau}^2)$ is electromagnetic coupling [68,69] and $S_{SW} \simeq 1.0194$ [15]. This observable has been calculated analytically in pQCD. One can find for this observable numerical value $3.660_{-0.12}^{+0.12}$ that is based on the principle of maximum conformability [70]. Considering the completed renormalization group improvement (CORGI) approach the obtained numerical value is $3.652_{-0.22}^{+0.23}$ [19]. The value obtained for R_{τ} via AdS/CFT duality is $3.620_{-0.003}^{+0.002}$, consistent with other approaches and in close agreement with the experimental result $3.593_{-0.008}^{+0.008}$ [71]. In the context of AdS/CFT correspondence, it is important to note that in the perturbative aspect of the calculation described in Eq. (4.12), the coupling constant *a* defined in Eq. (3.2) is employed, and the perturbative coefficients r_i up to the third order are analogous to those for $R_{e^+e^-}$ as shown in Eq. (4.9). The AdS/CFT modified coupling constant could give us physical value for R_{τ} below the QCD cutoff parameter that can be matched with ALEPH collaboration data [72] while we are not able to get reasonable values in conventional pQCD for R_{τ} at low energy scale. As mentioned earlier, the modified coupling yields more adequate numerical results for R_{τ} at $Q = m_{\tau} = 1.777 \ GeV$ compared to conventional pQCD, showing the benefit of utilizing the AdS/CFT modified coupling even at moderate and high energy scale.

5 Conclusion

In this paper, we discussed how by writing a proper space-time metric, given by Eq. (2.3), for an anti-de sitter space and employing the holography principle one could reach a modified

coupling constant which indicates appropriate behaviour at low energy scales. The soft-wall approach in AdS/CFT correspondence can give us a nonperturbative coupling constant at low energy scales. Due to the usefulness of the AdS coupling constant, considering the Burkert-Ioffe model, the obtained $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2)$ is modified. The coupling constant which is used in this paper is obtained using AdS/CFT correspondence. In order to get a proper coupling constant, the AdS metric is modified using a positive-sign dilaton background. This modification changes the $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2)$ amount at high energies while it leaves its amount approximately unchanged at low energies scales.

As a consequence of the above considerations, taking into account the modified $\alpha_s^{AdS}(Q^2)$, we studied some QCD observables such as the Bjorken sum rule, the ratio of electron-positron annihilation to hadrons, and muon-antimuon, and finally hadronic tau decay. Computation of pQCD calculations and extended to a region below the QCD cutoff parameter that is based on employing the modified coupling constant, indicate adequate analytical behaviour for these observables. As can be seen from Fig. 2 and Fig. 3 and the outcome of previous subsection, the computed results for these observables, based on AdS/CFT correspondence, are in good agreement with the available experimental data at any energy scales, specially at the low ones.

For additional research, other QCD observables like Higgs decay width, Compton scattering amplitude, and meson form factors can be investigated, incorporating AdS/CFT considerations. We look forward to reporting on these topics in the future.

Authors' Contributions

All authors have the same contribution.

Data Availability

The manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Considerations

The authors have diligently addressed ethical concerns, such as informed consent, plagiarism, data fabrication, misconduct, falsification, double publication, redundancy, submission, and other related matters.

Funding

This research did not receive any grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or non-profit sectors.

Acknowledgment

Authors are indebted to Yazd university for the provided facilities while this research is done.

References

- J. Blumlein and H. Bottcher, "QCD analysis of polarized deep-inelastic scattering data and parton distributions", Nucl. Phys. B 636, 225 (2002) [arXiv:0203155 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(02)00342-5
- [2] J. Blumlein, " Λ_{QCD} and $\alpha_s(M_Z^2)$ from DIS Structure Functions", [arXiv:0706.2430 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.0706.2430
- [3] A. C. Aguilar, D. Binosi and J. Papavassiliou, "Gluon and ghost propagators in the Landau gauge, Deriving lattice results from Schwinger-Dyson equations", Phys. Rev. D 78, 025010 (2008) [arXiv:0802.1870 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.78.025010
- [4] C. S. Fischer, "Infrared Properties of QCD from Dyson-Schwinger equations", J. Phys. G 32, 253 (2006) [arXiv:0605173 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1088/0954-3899/32/8/R02
- P. L. Anthony *et al.*, "Determination of the neutron spin structure function", Phys. Rev. Lett **71**, 959 (1993) DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.71.959
- [6] P. L. Anthony et al., Phys. Rev. D 54, 6620 (1996), "Deep inelastic scattering of polarized electrons by polarized 3He and the study of the neutron spin structure" [arXiv:9610007 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.54.6620
- [7] K. Abe *et al.*, "Measurements of the proton and deuteron spin structure functions g_1 and g_2 ", Phys. Rev. D 58, 112003 (1998) [arXiv:9802357 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.58.112003
- [8] P. L. Anthony et al., "Precision Measurement of the Proton and Deuteron Spin Structure Functions g₂ and Asymmetries A₂", Phys. Lett. B 553, 18 (2003) [arXiv:0204028 [hep-ex]], DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(02)03015-0
- D. Adams et al., "Spin Structure of the Proton from Polarized Inclusive Deep-Inelastic Muon-Proton Scattering", Phys. Rev. D 56, 5330 (1997) [arXiv:9702005 [hep-ex]], DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(02)00342-5
- [10] A. Airapetian *et al.*, "Precise determination of the spin structure function g1 of the proton, deuteron and neutron", Phys. Rev. D 75, 012007 (2007) [arXiv:0609039 [hepex]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.75.012007
- [11] M. G. Alekseev *et al.*, "The Spin-dependent structure function of the proton g_1^p and a test of the Bjorken sum rule", Phys. Lett. B **690**, 466 (2010) [arXiv:1001.4654 [hep-ex]], DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2010.05.069
- [12] A. Deur *et al.*, "Experimental determination of the evolution of the Bjorken integral at low Q^2 ", Phys. Rev. Lett. **93**, 212001 (2004) [arXiv:0407007[hep-ex]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.212001]

- [13] K. Slifer et al., "Probing Quark-Gluon Interactions with Transverse Polarized Scattering", Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 101601 (2010) [arXiv:0812.0031[nucl-ex]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.101601
- [14] A. Deur *et al.*, "Experimental study of isovector spin sum rules", Phys. Rev. 78, 032001 (2008) [arXiv:0509007[nucl-ex]], DOI: 10.1142/S021773230501875X
- [15] J.-P. Chen, A. Deur, Z.-E. Meziani, "Sum Rules and Moments of the Nucleon Spin Structure Functions", Mod. Phys. Lett. A20, 2745 (2005) [arXiv:0802.3198[nucl-ex]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.78.032001
- [16] M. Casell, "Lattice Gauge Theories and the AdS/CFT Correspondence", Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15, 3901 (2000) [arXiv:0003119[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X00002044
- [17] C. S. Fischer, R. Alkofer, F. J. Llanes-Estrada and K. Schwenzer, "Nonperturbative quark-gluon dynamics", MENU07 Conf. [arXiv:0710.1915[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.0710.1915
- [18] M. Natsumme, AdS/CFT duality user guide, Speinger (2015).
- [19] M. Akrami, A. Mirjalili, "Principle of maximum conformality and complete renormalization group improvement approaches to optimize QCD observables: Similarity, differences, and preference", Phys. Rev. D 99, 074023 (2019) DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.99.074023
- [20] D. Howe, C. J. Maxwell, "All-orders infrared freezing of observables in perturbative QCD", Phys. Rev. D 70, 014002 (2004) [arXiv:0303163[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.70.014002
- [21] A. Bachelot, "The Klein–Gordon equation in the Anti-de Sitter cosmology", J. Math. Pure. Appl. 96, 527 (2011) [arXiv:1010.1925[math-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/j.matpur.2011.07.004
- [22] A. Bachelot, "The Dirac system on the anti-de Sitter universe", Commun.Math.Phys. 283, (2008) [arXiv:0706.1315[math-ph]], DOI: 10.1007/s00220-008-0564-8
- [23] M. Nouri-Zonoz, A. Nouri-Zonoz, "Stationary analogs of de Sitter and anti-de Sitter spacetimes: Evidence in favor of Λ as a dark fluid", [arXiv:2005.04677[gr-qc]].
- [24] W. Rindler, "Essential relativity:special, general and cosmological", Springer-Verlag (1977).
- [25] C. A. B. Bayona and N. R. F. Braga, "Anti-de Sitter boundary in Poincare coordinates", Gen. Rel. Grav 39, 1367 (2007) [arXiv:0512182[hep-th]], DOI: 10.1007/s10714-007-0446-y
- [26] Y. Frishman and J. Sonnenschein, "non-pertabative field theory", Cambridge university press (2010).
- [27] M. Kaku, "Strings, Conformal Fields, and Topology: An Introduction", Second Edition, Springer-Verlag (1991).
- [28] L. Susskind, "The World as a Hologram" J. Math. Phys 36, 6377 (1995) [arXiv:9409089[hep-th]], DOI: 10.1063/1.531249

- [29] E. Witten, "Anti De Sitter Space And Holography" Adv. Theor. Math. Phys 2, 253 (1998) [arXiv:9802150[hep-th]], DOI: 10.4310/ATMP.1998.v2.n2.a2
- [30] S. J. Brodsky, G. F. de Teramond, "Light-Front Dynamics and AdS/QCD Correspondence: Gravitational Form Factors of Composite Hadrons" Phys. Rev. D 78, 025032 (2008) [arXiv:0804.0452[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.78.025032
- [31] J. M. Maldcaena, "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity", Int. J. Theor. Phys 38, 1113 (1999) [arXiv:9711200 [hep-th]], DOI: 10.1023/A:1026654312961
- [32] S. S. Gubser, L. R. Klebanov and A. M. Polyakov, "Gauge Theory Correlators from Non-Critical String Theory", Phys. Lett. B 428, 105 (1998) [arXiv:9802109[hep-th]], DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(98)00377-3
- [33] M. Taki, A. Mirjalili, "The Riemann tensor and the Bianchi identity in 5D space-time", Com. Ren. Phys 18, 66 (2017) DOI: 10.1016/j.crhy.2016.06.003
- [34] M. Abdus Salam, "Unification of fundamental forces", Cambridge university press (1990).
- [35] S. Hyun, Y. Kiem, "Background geometry of DLCQ M theory on a p-torus and holography", Phys. Rev. D 59, 026003 (1999) [arXiv:9805136[hep-th]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.59.026003
- [36] J. Polchinski and M. J. Strassler, "Hard Scattering and Gauge/String Duality", Phys. Rev. Lett 88, 031601 (2002) [arXiv:0109174[hep-th]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevLett.88.031601
- [37] O. Andreev and V. I. Zakharov, "Heavy-Quark Potentials and AdS/QCD", Phys. Rev. D 74, 025023 (2006) [arXiv:0604204[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.74.025023
- [38] S. J. Brodsky, G. F. de Teramond, A. Deur, "Non-Perturbative QCD Coupling and Beta Function from Light Front Holography", Phys. Rev. D 81, 096010 (2010) [arXiv:1002.3948[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.81.096010
- [39] O. Andreev, "1/q² Corrections and Gauge/String Duality", Phys. Rev. D 73, 107901 (2006)[arXiv:0603170[hep-th]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.73.107901
- [40] J. Sonnenschein, "Stringy Confining Wilson Loops", PoS. TMR 2000, 008 (2000) [arXiv:0009146[hep-th]], DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/0009146
- [41] G. F. de Teramonda, S. J. Brodsky, "Light-Front Holography and Gauge/Gravity Duality: The Light Meson and Baryon Spectra", Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl 199, 89 (2010) [arXiv:0909.3900[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysbps.2010.02.010
- [42] P. A. M. Dirac, "Forms of Relativistic Dynamics", Rev. Mod. Phys 21, 392 (1949) DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.21.392
- [43] A. Karch, E. Katz, D. T. Son, M. A. Stephanov, "Linear QCD from AdS/CFT", Phys. Rev. D 74, 015005 (2006) [arXiv:0602229[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.74.015005

- [44] G. F. de Teramond and S. J. Brodsky, "Light-Front Holographic QCD and Emerging Hadron Mass Scale", Phys. Rev. Lett **102**, 081601 (2009). [arXiv:0809.4899 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysbps.2010.02.010
- [45] J. Erlich, E. Katz, D. T. Son and M. A. Stephanov, "QCD and a Holographic Model of Baryons", Phys. Rev. Lett 95, 261602 (2005) [arXiv:0501128[hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.261602
- [46] A. Deur, V. Burkert, J. P. Chen, W. Korsch, "Experimental determination of the effective strong coupling constant", Phys. Lett. B 650, 244 (2007) [arXiv:0509113 [hepph]], DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2007.05.015
- [47] K. Abe *et al.* [E143 Collaboration], "Measurements of the Proton and Deuteron Spin Structure Functions g_1 and g_2 ", Phys. Rev. D **58**, 112003 (1998) [arXiv:0609039 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.58.112003
- [48] A. Airapetian *et al.* (HERMES Collaboration), "Precise determination of the spin structure function g₁ of the proton, deuteron and neutron" Phys. Rev. D 75, 012007 (2007) [arXiv:9802357 [hep-ex]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.58.112003
- [49] X. Zheng *et al.* (Jefferson Lab Hall A Collaboration), "Precision measurement of the neutron spin asymmetries and spin-dependent structure functions in the valence quark region", Phys. Rev. C 70, 065207 (2004) [arXiv:0405006 [hep-ex]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevC.70.065207
- [50] C. Adolph *et al.* (COMPASS Collaboration), "The spin structure function g1p of the proton and a test of the Bjorken sum rule", Phys. Lett. B **753**, 18 (2016) [arXiv:1503.08935 [hep-ex]], DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2015.11.064
- [51] B. Adeva *et al.* (Spin Muon Collaboration), "Spin asymmetries A(1) and structure functions g1 of the proton and the deuteron from polarized high-energy muon scattering", Phys. Rev D 58, 112001 (1998) DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.58.112001
- [52] J. Ashman et al. (European Muon Collaboration), "A Measurement of the Spin Asymmetry and Determination of the Structure Function g(1) in Deep Inelastic Muon-Proton Scattering" Phys. Lett. B 206, 364 (1988) DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(88)91523-7
- [53] P. L. Anthony *et al.* [E155 Collaboration], "Measurements of the Q^2 -Dependence of the Proton and Neutron Spin Structure Functions g_1p and g_1n " Phys. Lett. B **493**, 19 (2000) [arXiv:0007248 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(00)01014-5
- [54] V. Sulkosky at el., "Measurement of the ³He Spin-Structure Functions and of Neutron ³He Spin-Dependent Sum Rules at $0.035 < Q^2 < 0.24 \ GeV^2$ ", Phys. B 805, 135428 (2020) [arXiv:1908.05709 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135428
- [55] C. Amslar, "Review of Particle Physics" Phys. Lett. B, 1 667 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2008.07.018
- [56] E. V. Shuryak and A. I. Vainshtein, "Theory of Power Corrections to Deep Inelastic Scattering in Quantum Chromodynamics.II. Q^{-4} Effects: Polarized Target", Nucl. Phys. B **201**, 141 (1982) DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(82)90377-7
- [57] G. Cvetic and R. Kogerler, "Scale and scheme independent extension of Pade approximants: Bjorken polarized sum rule as an example" Phys. Rev. D 63, 056013 (2001) [arXiv:0006098 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.63.056013

- [58] B. L. Loffe, Sur.H.E.P, 8 178 (2005), "The Nucleon spin problem" [arXiv:9408291 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1080/01422419508201820
- [59] A. Deur *el al.*, "High precision determination of the Q²-evolution of the Bjorken Sum", Phys. Rev. D 90, 012009 (2014). [arXiv:1405.7854 [nucl-ex]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.90.012009
- [60] P. A. Baikov, R. K. G. Chetyrkin, J. H. Kuhn, "Adler Function, Bjorken Sum Rule, and the Crewther Relation to Order α_s^4 in a General Gauge Theory", Phys. Rev. Lett **104**, 132004 (2010) [arXiv:1001.3606 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.104.132004
- [61] M. Abdallah and M. Burkardt, "Transverse Force on Transversely Polarized Quarks in Longitudinally Polarized Nucleons" Phys. Rev. D 94, 094040 (2016) [arXiv:1610.01166 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.94.094040
- [62] S. G. Gorishny, A. L. Kataev and S. A. Larin, "The $O(\alpha_s^3)$ corrections to $\sigma_{tot}(e^+e^- \rightarrow hadrons)$ and $\Gamma(\tau \rightarrow \nu \tau hadrons)$ in QCD", Phys. Lett. B **259**, 144 (1991) DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(91)90149-K
- [63] L. R. Surguladze and M. A. Samuel, "Total hadronic cross-section in e^+e^- annihilation at the four loop level of perturbative QCD", Phys. Rev. Lett **66**, 560 (1990) DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.66.560
- [64] K. G. Chetyrkin, "Corrections of order α_s^3 to R_{had} in pQCD with light gluinos", Phys. Lett. B **391**, 402 (1997) [arXiv:9608480 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(96)01478-5
- [65] V V. Ezhela, S. B. Lugovsky, O. V. Zenin, "Hadronic part of the muon g_2 estimated on the σ_{tot}^{2003} ($e^+e^- \rightarrow$ hadrons) evaluated data compilation", DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.hep-ph/0312114
- [66] A. Pich, "Tau physics", Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys 15, 453 (1998)
 [arXiv:9704453 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1142/9789812812667-0007
- [67] C. J. Maxwell and D. G. Tonge, "The uncertainty in $\alpha_s(M_Z^2)$ determined from hadronic tau decay measurements" Nucl. Phys. B **535**, 19 (1998) [arXiv:9705314 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00562-8
- [68] E. Braaten and C S. Li, "Electroweak radiative corrections to the semihadronic decay rate of the τ lepton", Phys. Rev. D 42, 3888 (1990) DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.42.3888
- [69] W. J. Marciano and A. Sirlin, "Electroweak radiative corrections to τ decay" Phys. Rev. Lett **61**, 1815 (1988) DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(93)90210-9
- [70] S. J. Brodsky, M. Mojaza and X. G. Wu, "Systematic Scale-Setting to All Orders: The Principle of Maximum Conformality and Commensurate Scale Relations", Phys. Rev. D 89, 014027 (2014) [arXiv:1304.4631 [hep-ph]], DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.89.014027
- [71] C. S. Lam and T. M. Yan, "Decays of Heavy Lepton and Intermediate Weak Boson in Quantum Chromodynamics", Phys. Rev. D 16, 703 (1977) DOI: 10.1103/Phys-RevD.16.703
- [72] ALEPH Collab., "Measurement of the mass of the Z boson and the energy calibration of LEP", Euro. Phys. J. C 4, 409 (1998) DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.16.703